STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Richland County

Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

MAURICE ROBERTS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000652

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**RECEIVED**

**Oct 28 2022**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

## **ISSUES PRESENTED**

1.

Whether the PCR court erred where it denied post-conviction relief where counsel asked Major Smith if he believed Petitioner's codefendants were credible witnesses, and where Major Smith said he did believe the codefendants were credible, since credibility is a matter for the jury, and since Petitioner was prejudiced by the improper testimony?

2.

Whether the PCR court erred where it denied post-conviction relief where counsel did not object to a jury instruction that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder, since attempted murder required proof of a specific intent to kill, and since Petitioner was prejudiced by the improper instruction?

## STATEMENT

On February 13, 2013, a Richland County Grand Jury indicted Maurice Roberts, Petitioner, for murder, first-degree burglary, two counts of attempted murder, and attempted armed robbery. App. 1058 – 1067. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Doyet Early, III, and a jury, from February 24 – 28, 2014. Petitioner was represented by Tivis Sutherland. Luck Campbell, Nicole Simpson, and Meghan Walker represented the State. App. 1.

Petitioner stood accused of participating in a burglary gone wrong with three other men: Demetrice James, Deshawn McClary, and Vincent Nelson. The case involved the death of Brandon Jones (Decedent), and the wounding of Trenton Scott and Joshua Williams. App. 1058 – 1067; App. 202, l. 16 – 205, l. 2.

The State alleged that at approximately 10:00 p.m. on January 25, 2013, Trenton Scott and Troy Scott were in their parents' basement with friends Joshua Williams and Decedent. The Scotts had music recording equipment in the basement and Decedent was recording music that night. Vincent Nelson, a friend of the family known as "J School," came over unexpectedly and was let in by the Scotts' stepfather. App. 232, l. 21 – 234, l. 7; App. 330, ll. 10-24. Joshua Williams and the Scott brothers thought Vincent Nelson's behavior was "odd." Nelson was on the phone a lot, which was strange because Nelson did not have his own phone. Nelson also paced and repeatedly asked Decedent to come outside and smoke a cigarette. Eventually, Decedent went outside with Nelson and Joshua Williams to smoke. App. 331, l. 2 – 332, l. 1; App. 233, l. 16 – 238, l. 5; App. 442, l. 11 – 447, l. 19.

While they were outside, three strangers walked by several times before coming up to them. One of the strangers had a gun. According to Joshua Williams, the gunman pistol-whipped him and demanded keys from Decedent and from Vincent Nelson. According to Joshua

Williams, Vincent Nelson said the keys were in the house. Joshua Williams claimed the gunman went into the house and the two remaining suspects beat him. Joshua Williams alleged he heard Decedent begging not to be shot. Williams did not identify any of the suspects. Williams was shot in the side during the melee. App. 232, l. 21 – 244, l. 19.

Decedent was shot five times, with fatal wounds to his lungs and liver. App. 636, l. 9 – 641, l. 23. The wounds could have been inflicted by someone standing over him, according to the forensic pathologist who autopsied Decedent's body. App. 644, ll. 11-14.

According to Trenton Scott, a gunman ran into his basement, pointed the gun at him, and pistol-whipped him. Trenton Scott alleged he punched the gunman and the gunman dropped the gun. Trenton Scott and the gunman scuffled for the gun before a second suspect came inside and grabbed the gun. Two suspects tried to get further inside the house and Trenton Scott tried to barricade the door. The three men struggled, and the second suspect fired a shot through the open door, hitting Trenton Scott in the arm. Trenton Scott ran upstairs and heard five more shots. App. 332, l. 12 – 342, l. 25; App. 452, ll. 10-13.

Trenton Scott identified Petitioner as the gunman who pistol-whipped him after chasing Decedent in at gunpoint. Trenton Scott identified Demetrice James as the second suspect, who picked up the gun during the scuffle and shot him (Trenton Scott) through the doorway. App. 347, l. 1 – 353, l. 15. Trenton Scott's brother Troy Scott also identified Petitioner as the person he saw scuffling with Trenton. Troy Scott also identified Demetrice James as the person he saw with a gun. App. 459, l. 1 – 461, l. 21.

Petitioner's codefendants (Demetrice James, Deshawn McClary, and Vincent Nelson) testified against him at trial. Codefendant Demetrice James claimed he, Petitioner, and Deshawn McClary went to meet up with Vincent Nelson. Demetrice James claimed Petitioner ran towards

the men who were outside the Scott's house (Nelson, Decedent, and Joshua Williams) and he claimed Petitioner got in a fight. According to James, he went to help Petitioner and they were pulled into the house. James alleged Petitioner brandished a gun which went off twice during the scuffle. James claimed he ran outside and when he looked back, he saw Petitioner standing over Decedent, and he saw Petitioner shoot Decedent while Decedent was on the ground. App. 487, l. 21 – 496, l. 8. Finally, James claimed Petitioner threatened his father while the two were inexplicably being transported to the courthouse together. App. 506, ll. 8-23.

According to James, he had no intent to commit any crimes and was simply in the wrong place at the wrong time. James had a juvenile adjudication for carrying a weapon on school grounds, and faced the pending charges in this case. James also faced pending charges in additional cases of kidnapping, armed robbery, first-degree criminal sexual conduct, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana in proximity of a school. App. 508, l. 14 – 510, l. 24. Demetrice James did not have a plea offer but hoped his testimony would “help him out down the road.” App. 503, l. 8 – 505, l. 19.

Codefendant Vincent Nelson had just pleaded guilty to a reduced charge of voluntary manslaughter, as well as first-degree burglary, attempted armed robbery, and two counts of attempted murder. His sentencing was deferred and contingent upon “truthful” testimony at Petitioner’s trial. App. 515, l. 2 – 516, l. 22. Nelson was a reticent witness who consulted his attorney during his testimony and did not answer a number of questions posed to him by the solicitor. *See* App. 524, l. 3 – 527, l. 25. Nelson had told police that he took part in the attempted studio robbery, and he claimed Petitioner lent him a phone for his role. App. 528, l. 8 – 530, l. 14. Nelson claimed that after contact with Petitioner by phone, he went outside the Scotts’ house with Joshua Williams and Decedent. According to Nelson, Petitioner came up to them with a .45

caliber gun and hit Decedent. Nelson alleged Petitioner and Demetrice James attempted to get into the house, but Nelson ran away. Nelson claimed he heard shots and heard either McClary or James yell, “Get that [expletive]”. Nelson also claimed he later saw Petitioner put bleach on his clothes, and he claimed Petitioner told him not to “talk to anybody” about what happened. App. 534, l. 4 – 554, l. 7.

Codefendant Deshawn McClary, whose charges were still pending, testified he was part of a burglary plan with Petitioner, Demetrice James, and Vincent Nelson. McClary claimed he was the lookout, that Petitioner had a gun, and that after Petitioner and James ran back out of the house, he saw Petitioner standing over Decedent shooting him. App. 668, l. 5 – 677, l. 24. Deshawn McClary had a strong arm robbery conviction and pending charges for these offenses. McClary also faced unrelated charges of armed robbery, kidnapping, and third-degree criminal sexual conduct. App. 685, l. 9 – 687, l. 24.

Petitioner was interrogated by police and initially denied involvement. However, eventually the State alleged Petitioner confessed to being part of a “lick” at the “studio”. According to Officer McDonald, Petitioner said he was part of the burglary but denied having a gun. McDonald alleged Petitioner claimed an unidentified man called “600”<sup>1</sup> was the gunman. McDonald also claimed Petitioner said his clothing was stained with bleach while cleaning dishes. App. 738, l. 21 – 744, l. 13. Petitioner’s alleged confession was not video or audio recorded despite the availability of that technology in 2013. App. 760, l. 18 – 762, l. 1.

Officer McDonald observed that Petitioner had a black eye. App. 745, ll. 8-17. McDonald also read into the record text messages between Petitioner’s phone (allegedly possessed by

---

<sup>1</sup> References to “600” came up a number of times during the trial. For example, Joshua Williams said he heard someone yell, “600 don’t do it” just before shots were fired, and Jwuan Duckett told police that he, Petitioner, James, McClary, and Nelson were part of a rap group called “600.” App. 243, ll. 16-19; App. 403, ll. 6-14; App. 432, l. 22 – 433, l. 20.

Vincent Nelson at the time of the events) and Deshawn McClary's phone which included, "Come on. I got two outside." And, "On the way," in response. App. 751, l. 4 – 752, l. 15. Although the court found Petitioner's confession was admissible, Officer McDonald admitted that when explaining Petitioner's *Miranda*<sup>2</sup> rights to him and the meaning of the word coercion, he told Petitioner, "I'm not putting a gun to your head to make you talk today." App. 760, ll. 8-17.

Other evidence introduced at trial included the testimony of Jwuan Duckett, who claimed he heard Petitioner and Vincent Nelson discussing plans to burglarize a home to obtain studio equipment. App. 408, l. 8 – 409, l. 25. Duckett also claimed Petitioner asked him to pull up a local news website the day after the incident. App. 426, l. 18 – 427, l. 17. However, Jwuan Duckett had prior convictions and/or adjudications for possession with intent to distribute cocaine, resisting arrest, receiving stolen goods, second-degree burglary, petit larceny, and purse snatching. App. 427, l. 20 – 428, l. 18. Authorities found clothing with bleach on it behind Petitioner's apartment complex. App. 744, ll. 14-18; App. 435, l. 17 – 438, l. 17. Shell casings that were .45 caliber were found at the crime scene. App. 569, l. 5 – 571, l. 7.

At the close of the State's case, it presented the testimony of Major James Smith, the supervisor of the criminal investigation division at the Richland County Sherriff's Department. Major Smith was an impressive witness who had been in law enforcement for thirty years. App. 799, l. 25 – 800, l. 12. The solicitor asked Major Smith which person the "credible evidence" pointed to as being the shooter, and Smith said it pointed to Petitioner. Defense counsel did not object, and the question was likely unobjectionable since the solicitor asked Major Smith about credible evidence instead of credible testimony. App. 810, ll. 1-2. However, on cross-

---

<sup>2</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

examination counsel delved specifically into whether Major Smith thought credible witnesses pointed to Petitioner being the shooter, and even seemed to concede Smith was correct that Petitioner's codefendants were credible witnesses.

Q. [T]he credible evidence points to Maurice as shooting outside?

A. Yes.

Q. And that's—those fellows right there, Deshawn McClary, Demetrice James, and Vincent Nelson—

A. I believe they all indicate that.

Q. Okay, and so they're credible to you?

A. In this particular instance they are, yes, sir.

Q. Okay. Fair enough.

A. They all defined their involvement. Demetrice James—

App. 810, l. 16 – 811, l. 1.

The court stopped Major Smith and *sua sponte* stated, “All right. Hold, Hold on one second. Let's—listen, fellows, ladies. This jury determines the credibility of the witnesses. Not the witnesses. So, that is y'all's sole responsibility to determine who's telling the truth. Not this witness. So, move on to another area.” App. 811, ll. 2-6. However, the court did not instruct the jury to disregard Major Smith's testimony.

The State rested and the defense did not put up a case. App. 811, l. 23 – 818, l. 6. During the charge conference, the solicitor asked that the jury be charged that specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder, and defense counsel had no objection. App. 914 – 916, l. 20; App. 831, ll. 2-2. The court therefore instructed the jury,

Dealing with the offense of attempted murder, a specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder, but there must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury. A specific intent to

kill is not an element of attempted murder, but there must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury.

App. 917, ll. 9-14.

The jury deliberated for about an hour and a half before it convicted Petitioner as indicted. App. 920, l. 6 – 922, l. 18.

After he exhausted his direct appeal remedies, on July 26, 2017, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 939 – 944. On May 14, 2018, the State made its return, partial motion to dismiss, and motion for a more definite statement. App. 945 – 960. On March 24, 2022, Petitioner amended his application. App. 961. On March 28, 2022, a hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable Grace G. Knie. Jonathan Waller represented Petitioner. David Spencer represented the State. App. 962.

Trial counsel claimed he asked Major Smith if Smith believed the witnesses against Petitioner were credible to “tak[e] a dig at” Smith. Surprisingly, counsel claimed he did not expect Major Smith to answer the question. “I wasn’t expecting a sincere answer from him or an answer at all really.” App. 1007, l. 14 – 1008, l. 8. However, counsel admitted he should not have asked the questions. App. 1019, l. 14 – 1021, l. 9.

Trial counsel testified that he did not object to the jury instruction that specific intent was not an element of attempted murder because he (incorrectly) thought attempted murder had the same elements as the already-repealed offense of assault and battery with intent to kill. App. 1001, l. 21 – 1002, l. 7. “[W]hat was your understanding of attempted murder at the time[?]” App. 1001, ll. 22-25. “At the time I will say it must have been it was just ABIK. You know, the old ABIK . . .” App. 1002, ll. 5-7.

On May 5, 2022, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 1043 – 1057. The order of dismissal addressed Petitioner’s claim that counsel was deficient in his cross-

examination of Major Smith about the codefendants' credibility. App. 1053 – 1054. The order of dismissal concluded that counsel exercised a “reasonable trial strategy,” since “This Court finds ‘and so they’re credible to you?’ is clearly a rhetorical question that is calculated to undermine the prosecution by focusing on the prosecution’s dependence on co-defendants the jury might find unsavory in character.” App. 1054. The order also noted that the trial court “provided a curative instruction” and so, “Neither prong of *Strickland*<sup>3</sup> was proved.” App. 1054.

The order of dismissal also addressed Petitioner’s claim that counsel’s performance was deficient when he failed to object to a jury instruction that only a general intent was required for attempted murder. 1054 – 1056. The order noted that the trial occurred in 2014, which was prior to either the Court of Appeals 2015 decision in *State v. King*, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015) or this Court’s 2017 decision in *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), decisions that concluded specific intent to kill was an element of attempted murder. App. 1054. The order noted that counsel was not required to be “clairvoyant” or to “foresee successful appellate challenges to novel questions of law.” App. 1055. The order cited to Justice Kittredge’s concurrence in *King* as proof that “counsel’s failure to object to the general intent language does not fall below professional norms.”<sup>4</sup> App. 1055 – 1056. The order of dismissal also concluded that Petitioner was not prejudiced “in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.” App. 1056.

As seen, at trial, Petitioner was convicted and sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of forty-five years for murder, forty-five years for first-degree burglary, thirty

---

<sup>3</sup> *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

<sup>4</sup> Justice Kittredge concurred in result in *King*, and concluded that the attempted murder statute “represents the codification of the common law offense of ABWIK,” and “that a specific intent to kill is not an element of the offense of attempted murder[.]” *King*, 422 S.C. at 73, 810 S.E.2d at 32 (Kittredge, J., concurring in result).

years for each count of attempted murder, and twenty years for attempted armed robbery. App. 1068 – 1072; App. 937, ll. 6-18.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

## ARGUMENT

1.

The PCR court erred where it denied post-conviction relief where counsel asked Major Smith if he believed Petitioner’s codefendants were credible witnesses, and where Major Smith said he did believe the codefendants were credible, since credibility is a matter for the jury, and since Petitioner was prejudiced by the improper testimony.

Counsel’s performance was deficient since he elicited damaging testimony that was otherwise inadmissible. Petitioner’s codefendants—Vincent Nelson, Demetrice James, and Deshawn McClary—all had serious credibility problems, but Major Smith, an impressive prosecution witness, opined that he found the witnesses to be credible.

### ***Deficiency***

Absent counsel’s deficient performance Major Smith would not have been permitted to opine on the credibility of witnesses. “[T]he credibility of a witness is exclusively for the jury to decide.” *State v. Reyes*, 432 S.C. 394, 401, 853 S.E.2d 334, 338 (2020). “[W]itnesses are generally not allowed to testify whether another witness is telling the truth.” *State v. McKerley*, 397 S.C. 461, 464, 725 S.E.2d 139, 141 (Ct. App. 2012). “Similarly, witnesses may not improperly bolster the testimony of other witnesses.” *Id.* See also *Tappeiner v. State*, 416 S.C. 239, 250, 785 S.E.2d 471, 476 (2016) (assessment of witness credibility is within the exclusive province of the jury); *State v. Kromah*, 401 S.C. 340, 358–59, 737 S.E.2d 490, 500 (2013) (it is improper for a witness to testify as to his or her opinion about the credibility of a child victim in a sexual abuse matter); *Burgess v. State*, 329 S.C. 88, 91, 495 S.E.2d 445, 447 (1998) (asking one witness to comment on truthfulness of adverse witness is improper argumentative questioning or “pitting”).

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees an accused the right to effective assistance of counsel. U.S. CONST. amend. VI; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The United States Supreme Court has established a two-pronged test to evaluate allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. Petitioner must prove “that counsel’s performance was deficient” and fell below reasonable professional norms, and the deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner. *Id.* at 687.

All three codefendants had serious credibility problems. All were originally charged with the same offenses as Petitioner in this case, and none had been sentenced. Demetrice James, who was alleged to have been party to an agreement to burglarize the Scott’s home and alleged to have shot Trenton Scott, testified he was simply in the wrong place at the wrong time. James’ charges were still pending in this case. James had a juvenile adjudication for carrying a weapon on school grounds, and also faced pending charges in additional cases of kidnapping, armed robbery, first-degree criminal sexual conduct, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana in proximity of a school. App. 508, l. 14 – 510, l. 24.

Vincent Nelson pleaded guilty in this case earlier in the week to a reduced charge of voluntary manslaughter, as well as first-degree burglary, attempted armed robbery, and two counts of attempted murder. His sentencing was deferred and dependent upon “truthful” testimony at Petitioner’s trial. App. 515, l. 2 – 516, l. 22. Nelson consulted his attorney during his testimony and repeatedly refused to answer questions posed to him by the solicitor. *See* App. 524, l. 3 – 527, l. 25.

Deshawn McClary, whose charges in this case were still pending, had a strong arm robbery conviction. McClary also faced additional unrelated charges of armed robbery, kidnapping, and third-degree criminal sexual conduct. App. 685, l. 9 – 687, l. 24.

Major Smith was the supervisor of the criminal investigation division at the Richland County Sherriff's Department and he had been in law enforcement for thirty years. App. 799, l. 25 – 800, l. 12. Counsel asked Major Smith if he found Petitioner's codefendants be credible and Smith bolstered their testimony, saying he did find them credible. Counsel then conceded, "Okay. Fair enough." App. 810, l. 16 – 811, l. 1. This was deficient performance since "witnesses are generally not allowed to testify whether another witness is telling the truth . . . [and] may not improperly bolster the testimony of other witnesses." *State v. McKerley*, 397 S.C. at 464, 725 S.E.2d at 141; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. at 687–88 (defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness; the proper measure of attorney performance is reasonableness under prevailing professional norms).

### ***Prejudice***

"To show prejudice, the applicant must show that, but for counsel's errors, there is a reasonable probability the result of the trial would have been different." *Patrick v. State*, 349 S.C. 203, 207, 562 S.E.2d 609, 611 (2002). "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial." *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997).

Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Petitioner. The evidence of Petitioner's guilt aside from the codefendants' testimony consisted primarily of Petitioner's partial confession, the Scott brothers' identification of Petitioner as an armed burglar, Petitioner's cell phone records (from when the State alleged Petitioner's cell phone was possessed by Vincent Nelson) with

texts to include “Come on. I got two outside.” And, “On the way,” from Deshawn McClary in response. Bleached clothing was found behind Petitioner’s apartment complex, and Jwuan Duckett claimed that he overheard Petitioner planning the burglary.

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