RECEIVED

Mar 10 2023

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Richland County
Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Apr 05 2023

MAURICE ROBERTS,

SC Court of Appeals

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000652

**RETURN TO PETITION
FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Counsel's cross-examination, calling out the investigation for its reliance on co-defendants of questionable character, was reasonable trial strategy.

Petitioner complains that counsel was ineffective for eliciting testimony from the lead investigator that the lead investigator found the three codefendants were credible “in this particular instance.” The reality is counsel engaged in a cross-examination that mocked the investigators for relying on the three unsavory codefendants and obfuscated, for a moment, the other strong evidence of Petitioner’s guilt, the identifications by both of the brothers and particularly Petitioner’s admission that he was present for the planning of the robbery and was present at the location of the robbery. Counsel’s cross-examination does not represent deficient performance, nor was Petitioner prejudiced.

The prosecutor went through the steps with Deputy Smith that he took during the investigation and asked Deputy Smith, “And from the credible evidence, [who was] the shooter?” Deputy Smith responded it was the Petitioner. Tr. p. 810, lines 1-2. On cross-examination, counsel questioned Deputy Smith as follows:

Q: Well, you testified that the credible evidence points to Maurice as shooting outside?

A: Yes.

Q: And that’s – those fellows right there, Deshawn McClary, Demetrice James, and Vincent Nelson ---

A: I believe they all indicate that.

Q: Okay, and so they're credible to you?

A: In this particular instance they are, yes, sir.

Q: Okay. Fair enough.

A: They all defined their involvement. Demetrice James ---

Court: All right. Hold, hold on one second. Let's – listen, fellows, ladies. This jury determines the credibility of the witnesses. Not the witnesses. So, that is y'all's sole responsibility to determine who's telling the truth. Not this witness. So, move on to another area.

Sutherland: Yes, indeed. Thank you, Your Honor.

Tr. p. 810, line 16 – p. 811, line 6.

Petitioner alleges counsel was ineffective by attempting to elicit testimony from the deputy about the credibility of the codefendants. The PCR court noted “and so they're credible to you” was clearly a rhetorical question calculated to undermine the prosecution by focusing on the prosecution's dependence on co-defendants the jury might find unsavory in character. Counsel, in hindsight, testified he should have objected rather than “mock” the deputy. But Counsel also agreed he got the best of both worlds by getting to mock the deputy and get a curative instruction that the jury determines the credibility of a witness and not another witness. App. p. 1020. However, there was unquestionable value in focusing the jury's attention on law enforcement's reliance on these codefendants. As Petitioner correctly points out, the codefendants in this case showed especially bad character: (1) McClary was previously convicted of strong-arm robbery and along with facing the charges from the present case, he had unrelated charges for armed robbery, kidnapping, and criminal sexual conduct in the third degree (App. 685-87); (2) James minimized his conduct, claiming he was

simply in the wrong place at the wrong time. He was adjudicated delinquent for carrying a weapon on school grounds, and in addition to the charges from the present case, he was also facing unrelated charges for kidnapping, armed robbery, first degree criminal sexual misconduct, and marijuana charges. (App. pp. 508-10); (3) of course Nelson was the one who betrayed the trust and goodwill of the Davis family that took him in. He already pled to several charges, including voluntary manslaughter as a lesser offense of the murder charge. His sentence was deferred until after he testified in this trial. Petitioner, in his petition, summarizes Nelson's shortcomings at trial well: "Nelson was a reticent witness who consulted his attorney during his testimony and did not answer a number of questions posed to him by the solicitor." Pet. for W.C. at 4 (citing App. pp. 524-527).

Counsel's cross-examination underscored law enforcement's reliance on the three codefendants who a jury might see as individuals of low character. This distracts from other evidence, including Petitioner's confession admitting to being a participant in the robbery and the identification of Petitioner by both brothers. Not surprisingly, Counsel rendered this same criticism during closing argument, telling the jury "they have very little credibility" because "everybody is self-interested." App. p. 882. The cross-examination tactic was reasonable.

In order to prove a claim of ineffectiveness, "the defendant must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy.'" *Id.* "[T]he existence of detailed guidelines for representation could distract counsel from the overriding mission of vigorous advocacy of the defendant's cause." Strickland at 689. The question is whether an attorney's representation amounted to incompetence under "prevailing professional norms," not whether it deviated from best practices or most common custom. Strickland, 466 U.S., at 690.

“Under Strickland, counsel’s representation must be only objectively reasonable, not flawless or to the highest degree of skill.” Dows v. Woods, 211 F.3d 480, 487 (9th Cir. 2000). “Moreover, counsel’s tactical decisions at trial, such as refraining from cross-examining a particular witness or from asking a particular line of questions, are given great deference and must similarly meet only objectively reasonable standards.” Id.; Dunn v. Reeves, 141 S.Ct. 2405, 2410 (2021) (“[E]ven if there is reason to think that counsel’s conduct was far from exemplary, a court still may not grant relief if the record does not reveal that counsel took an approach that no competent lawyer would have chosen.”) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

“Courts generally entrust cross-examination techniques, like other matters of trial strategy to the professional discretion of counsel.” Henderson v. Norris, 118 F.3d 1283, 1287 (8th Cir. 1997). “The cross-examination of a witness is a delicate task; what works for one lawyer may not be successful for another.” Id. The Eighth Circuit observed “there are few, if any, cross-examinations that could not be improved upon.” Id. (citation and quotation marks omitted).

The PCR Court found Counsel’s cross-examination “an effective display of advocacy for his client and does not find his performance in this regard deficient. It was well done, and was a reasonable approach to the prosecution’s question about the ‘credible evidence.’” App. p. 1054. Probative evidence supports the PCR court’s finding as counsel’s cross may be seen as a stinging criticism of the prosecution rather than the investigator bolstering witnesses as Petitioner insists. Even counsel’s hindsight observation is more accurately described as a question of decorum when he suggests he should not have mocked the deputy.

Further, the jury heard the trial judge explain that credibility is for the jury, not a witness to

determine. Petitioner complains this admonishment was not a true curative instruction as it was not directed at the jury. However, the jury heard it and would later hear the trial court explain that the jury must determine the credibility of witnesses during the trial court's charge to the jury. App. pp. 897-98. Moreover, the admonishment was clearly for the jury's consumption when the trial court stated, "So, that is y'all's sole responsibility to determine who's telling the truth. Not this witness." An appropriate curative instruction is generally considered to cure any error. State v. Dawkins, 297 S.C. 386, 377 S.E.2d 298 (1989). Because counsel's strategy on cross-examination was reasonable and because Petitioner was not prejudiced due to the on-point curative instruction, probative evidence supports the denial of relief.

II.

Because prior to 2015, reasonable minds could differ as to whether attempted murder was a specific or general intent crime, and the trial was in 2014, counsel was not deficient for failing to object to the general intent instruction for attempted murder.

Petitioner alleges counsel was ineffective for failing to object to a jury instruction that only a general intent was required for attempted murder. This trial occurred in 2014. In 2015, the Court of Appeals determined that a specific intent to commit murder was required to prove attempted murder. State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 410-12, 772 S.E.2d 189, 193 (Ct. App. 2005). Subsequently, the Supreme Court affirmed as modified the Court of Appeals' opinion. State v. King, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017). However, the opinion was not unanimous as to whether attempted murder was a specific intent crime. Justice Kittredge noted:

The majority and I agree that the statutory language creates an ambiguity – “with intent to kill” speaks to a specific intent crime while “malice aforethought, either expressed or implied” points to a general intent crime. I would resort to legislative history to resolve the tension between the two phrases.

Id. at 72, 810 S.E.2d at 31 (Kittredge, J., concurring). Justice Kittredge favorably cited State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 14-15, 479 S.E.2d 50, 51 (1996), which held the then-existing offense of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABWIK) required only a general intent. Justice Kittredge found section 16-3-29 was the “verbatim” codification of the common law offense of ABWIK, and then queried, “If the legislature intended to create a specific intent crime, why did it use verbatim the language of the repealed common law offense of ABWIK that had a settled understanding as a general intent crime?” Id. at 73, 810 S.E.2d at 32. Justice Kittredge concluded he would find the legislature intended for the offense to be a general intent crime. Id. at 74, 810 S.E.2d at 32.

In Foust, the Supreme Court noted ABWIK requires both the intent to kill and malice, but concluded the intent to kill is only a general intent. When the 2010 statute was passed, it mirrored ABWIK in requiring an intent to kill and malice “express or implied,” mirroring the language of the common law offense of ABWIK. Given the verbatim language of ABWIK found in the attempted murder statute, a reasonable attorney could conclude that attempted murder was a general intent crime – just like Justice Kittredge did in his concurring opinion in King.

Petitioner challenges the applicability of the clairvoyance doctrine, arguing the attempted murder statute was passed in 2010, so King was not an actual change in the law. This argument misses a central tenet of Strickland that requires eliminating the distorting effects of hindsight in analyzing counsel’s conduct. Counsel’s testimony suggests that he saw the level of intent for attempted murder to be the same as the common law offenses of assault with intent to kill and assault and battery with intent to kill. App. p. 1002, lines 2-7. This is consistent with Justice Kittredge’s view of the 2010 law years after the trial as evidenced by Justice Kittredge’s dissent. Regardless of whether King “changed” the law, the question as to whether attempted murder was a general intent crime or a specific intent crime was an open question, unsettled until after Petitioner’s 2014 trial. Until King, reasonable minds could differ.

However, the State disagrees that a clarification of the law is not a change in the law. Until the King cases, the statutory language, which Justice Kittredge noted was ambiguous, had not been interpreted by a reviewing court. Clairvoyance is still required to anticipate the outcome of King. In keeping with this, both the Fourth Circuit and our own State court understands Strickland does not require counsel to be clairvoyant and anticipate changes in the law. Harden v. State, 360 S.C. 405,

409, 602 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2004). The Supreme Court found the lower court erred in granting relief on the basis that defense counsel should have objected to an instruction contrary to State v. Daniels, 401 S.C. 251, 254, 737 S.E.2d 473, 474 (2012), five years before Daniels was issued. Teamer v. State, 416 S.C. 171, 183, 786 S.E.2d 109, 115 (2016). The Supreme Court held “that the PCR court erred in finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to object to the jury instruction when no case law existed rendering the instruction improper per se.” Id. In reaching this result, the Supreme Court declared the following:

This Court has previously held that reasonable representation does not require trial counsel to foresee successful appellate challenges to novel questions of law. E.g., Gilmore v. State, 314 S.C. 453, 457, 445 S.E.2d 454, 456 (1994) (“We have never required an attorney to be clairvoyant or anticipate changes in the law. . . .” (citing Thornes v. State, 310 S.C. 306, 309-10, 426 S.E.2d 764, 765 (1993))), *overruled on other grounds by* Brightman v. State, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999); Thornes, 310 S.C. at 309-10, 426 S.E.2d at 765 (“This Court has never required an attorney to anticipate or discover changes in the law, or facts which did not exist, at the time of the trial.”).

Id.; see Kornaharens v. Evatt, 66 F.3d 1350 (4th Cir. 1995) (holding “the case law is clear that an attorney's assistance is not rendered ineffective because he failed to anticipate a new rule of law.”). The intent required for attempted murder was a novel question of law until the King cases were issued.

In the present case, Justice Kittredge’s disagreement on the intent element is proof that in 2014, counsel could believe only a general intent was necessary to prove attempted murder. Justice Kittredge’s opinion is consistent with the State’s argument referenced in the Court of Appeals’ opinion. Reasonable minds back in 2014 certainly could disagree on what the statute required – the

issue was not finally settled until 2017. Whether viewed as a change in law or a clarification of law, counsel was not required to anticipate the holding of King. Therefore, counsel's failure to object to the general intent language does not fall below professional norms because pulling away the distorting effects of hindsight, counsel's judgment, like Justice Kittredge's, was reasonable. Further, in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, including that his codefendant fired the shots constituting the charge while they were engaged in a violent home invasion and burglary, Petitioner was not prejudiced by the alleged error. Therefore, probative evidence supports the PCR court's ruling.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied. Should this Court see fit to grant the petition, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.